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FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH OF BARKSDALE 
  THE BARKSDALE BAPTIST CHURCH BECAME 

THE FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH IN THE COMMUNITY 

IN 1883 WITH A MEMBERSHIP OF NINETEEN. 

TRADITIONALLY, BAPTISMS HAVE BEEN HELD AT 

THE NEARBY NUECES RIVER CROSSING. A 

FRAME SANCTUARY ON THIS SITE SERVED THE 

NEEDS OF THE CHURCH FROM 1906 UNTIL IT 

WAS REPLACED BY THIS STRUCTURE IN 1943. 

H.L. WOOD OF BARKSDALE BEGAN 

CONSTRUCTION OF THE BUILDING, WHICH WAS 

COMPLETED BY CONGREGATION MEMBERS. THE 

RECTANGULAR PLAN, FRONT-GABLED CHURCH 

WITH COVERED ENTRY FEATURES A NATIVE 

STONE VENEER, EXPOSED RAFTER ENDS AND 

DOUBLE-HUNG WOOD WINDOWS. AN ORIGINAL 

BELL TOWER WAS LATER REMOVED.  

 

RECORDED TEXAS HISTORIC LANDMARK – 2008 
MARKER IS PROPERTY OF THE STATE OF TEXAS 

 

 
         

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 











Barksdale History 
            On October 4, 1847, the Governor of Texas, J. Pickney Anderson, granted to 
Felix Taylor on league of land situated in the Bexar District.1  Also, in 1847, a 
Spanish land grant was given to Louis F. Barksdale, who, in 1869 moved to the place 
where Barksdale is now located.  The town was called Dixie.2 Edwards County was 
created in 1858, from a portion of Bexar County, but Edwards County was not 
organized until 1883.3 
            The town of Barksdale was laid off on a part of the Felix Taylor survey.  In 
1885, part of this survey had passed into the hands of the Butler family, who did not 
live on the land, but subsequently sold part of the land to people who were in the 
market for lots and grazing lands.  The Barksdale town site is a part of the original 
Butler holdings.4   According to land records, W.P. Butler donated four acres of land 
to be used by the people of Barksdale as a cemetery.  The deed was entered in Vol. 2 
pg. 211 on June 3, 1889.5   The first family recorded in Barksdale was in 1867.  
Through the 1870’s and 1880’s more families moved into the area.6 In 1880, the 
Stieber family came to the Nueces Canyon and settled near the town of Dixie.7  In 
1887, Mr. Stieber was the Justice of the Peace.8  In 1880, Dixie had a hotel, a little 
store and a saloon.9 
            Before 1882, Dixie had no government post office, so the local citizens 
applied to the Postmaster General in Washington for a post office in Dixie.  The 
request was granted, but in researching, it was found out that there was another town 
in Texas named Dixie.  For a post office to be granted, the town’s name had to be 
changed.  The people decided to call the place Barksdale, for a member of the family 
that had settled in the country some years before.10 
            The J.R. (Bob) Sweeten family came to Edwards County in 1882, and settled 
in Dixie, just a short time before the town’s name was changed to Barksdale.  The 
Sweeten family helped in the laying out of the town of Barksdale, and in the 
organization of local government in the area.11  The town, including forty-two blocks, 
was built around the public square, which site is now the location of the two-story 
rock building,12 which was built in the early 1920’s.13 

  
  
  

Church 
            A Baptist Church at Barksdale presented a petitionary letter for membership in 
the Rio Grande Association in 1883, with 19 members.14  The Barksdale Baptist 
Church was organized in 1904.15  The Barksdale Baptist Church first appeared on the 



Uvalde Association rolls in 1906, when a petitionary letter “from Barksdale Baptist 
Church was received and read.  No messenger was present.”  Associated records 
indicate that the Barksdale Baptist Church was constituted in 1902.16   Early church 
records show some people came by letter to Barksdale Baptist Church in 1901 and 
several by baptism in 1915.17   The Baptist, Methodist and Church of Christ  were all 
active from the beginning of the settlement in the early 1880’s.  None of the charter 
members are known, but there is a record of the families’ active in the three churches.  
The Allens, Rhodes, Bates, Owens, Baldwins, McCarsons, Dunns, Akes, Lewis and 
Benskin families were Baptist.  In 1906, Mr. Gene Howerton helped in putting up a 
building in Barksdale for the Baptist people.  This building was located on Church 
Street on a lot north of the school house.18   This area is Lot 77 Block B in Barksdale, 
Texas.19 
            In March, 1907, Rev. J.M. Carroll, president of San Marcus College, E.M. 
Francis, Pastor of Uvalde Baptist  Church, B.U. Briggs, Pastor of Comstock Baptist  
Church, D.W. Matthews, Pastor of Bracketville Baptist Church, and H.O. Kendall of 
Uvalde all joined forces in an evangelistic revival in Barksdale.  The Barksdale 
Baptist Church probably dates its organization from that meeting.  The religious spirit 
of the Barksdale community was considerably revived by the meeting.20 
            In December 1907, the Barksdale Baptist Church was called together in 
conference for the purpose of selecting a pastor.  Some weeks before, Rev. D.S. 
Stovall, of Marshall, Texas, had made a trip to the Uvalde and Canyon Country, to 
explore the possibility of a pastorate in that section.  Bro. Stovall was a preacher of 
some year’s experience, having attended Baylor College, which at that time was 
located in Independence, Texas.  Dan Stovall stayed two years at Baylor.21   The 
Stovall family came by train to Uvalde and then by had to Montell and on to 
Barksdale where they lived in a little house by the Baptist Church.  Ed Greer says that 
he was present in the meeting when the Barksdale Baptist Church called Bro. Stovall 
as pastor; his salary was fixed at $800.00 per year.22   One of the outstanding events of 
this three year pastorate was a revival meeting held under a large tent located where 
the Barksdale school grounds are now situated.  During this meeting, a storm came up 
and blew the tent down on top of the people.  Twenty-six were baptized into the 
Barksdale Baptist Church after this meeting.  Brother Bailey was the evangelist. 23 
            In 1919 “Barksdale Baptist Church met in conference before the preaching 
hour on the afternoon of the Sabbath day February 23 with Brother Hancock as 
moderator.  Brother Garnett was unanimously and enthusiastically elected to the 
pastorate for the coming year.  The church also authorized Brother Garnett to baptize 
all those candidates for church membership who had presented themselves during the 



meeting he was then conducting.  Those who presented themselves for baptism were:  
Mrs. J.F. Gray, Mr. John A. Reagan, Mrs. Minnie Blackman, Miss Glady’s Balckman, 
Miss Thelma Stovall, Miss Lillie Bates and Mr. Lucas Stillwell.  Mr. Colon 
Henderson and Mrs. Paul Powers united with this church by letter and Mr. Joe Whittle 
by restoration.  Conference was adjourned and the church went immediately into the 
regular service of the afternoon and listened with much pleasure and profit to a fine 
sermon by Brother Garnett.  All members pledged their loyal support to the pastor-
elect in a manner which seems to foretell better things to come for the Barksdale 
Baptist Church.” 

Grace sawyer c.c.24 
            On November 11, 1919, J.M. Howerton and wife Lillie B. Howerton sold to 
W.A. Hancock, for $100.00, a parcel of land described as follows:  Being a part of the 
Felix Taylor Survey No. 241, Lot No. 77 in Block B.25 
            On November 25, 1923, Bro. C.W. Sawyer was given an indefinite call as 
Pastor of the Church.  In 1928, there were over 90 active members of the Barksdale 
Baptist Church, including the names Baxter, Casey, Custer, Field, Greer, Hobbs, 
Hatley, Kirchner, Perkins, Rhodes, Stovall, Stewart, Taylor, Wooldridge and Welch.26 
            On August 28, 1930, Barksdale Missionary Church met and the church called 
Bro. M.W. Richardson as Pastor, until March 1931.  On February 26, 1931, Barksdale 
Missionary Baptist Church met on conference and voted to ordain J.R. Steward and 
Vol Casey to the office of Deacon.  The examination was conducted by the Pastor 
M.W. Richardson and the church voted to accept the same.  Bro. J.R. Hillman 
preached ordination sermon.  Bro. Brooks delivered the charge to the church and Bro. 
Lindsey the charge to the deacons, and Bro. Dunam prayed the ordination prayer.  
After which the right hand of fellowship was extended to the deacons ordained. 

Geo. W. Sewell27 
            The Barksdale Baptist Church budget, adopted December 2, 1934, gives the 
Pastor’s salary at $180.84 per year or $15.00 per month.  The Pastor was C.C. 
Keeney.  They also gave to the Cooperative program $41.10 a year or $3.42 a month.  
In December 1935, the Barksdale Baptist Church roll listed 131 members.28 
            During the Depression years, the church was pastured by several ministers at 
various times including Brother Clarence Keeney and the two Morrison brothers.  In 
1940, Brother J.P. King assumed the pastorate of the Barksdale Baptist Church, a 
place he held for six years.  During that time, the old lumber church building was torn 
down and replaced by a native stone building. 29 

“The Beginning of New Baptist Church Barksdale, Tex” (1943) 



            “The Barksdale Baptist Church me tin Conference February 14, 1943. Rev. 
J.P. King as Moderator.  A motion was made by H.R. Perkins to discuss building a 
new Baptist Church House.  Mrs. Della Connell-second motion.  The motion carried. 
            Motion made by Mrs. J.P. King that a building committee be appointed to 
confer with builders and contractors and to find out cost and to submit plans to the 
church.  Mrs. Burney Pope second the motion.  The motion carried.  The committee 
appointed –John Shelton-chairman H.R.Perksin,  F.L.Hatley, R.E. Bruce. 
            Motion made by Mrs. J.P. King that a finance committee be appointed.  Mrs. 
Burney Pope second the motion.  The motion carried.  The committee appointed Mrs. 
John Shelton-chairman Mrs. Burney Pope. 
            No further business we adjourned.”30 
            “The Barksdale Baptist Church met in Conference Feb-21 J.P. King as 
Moderator.  The minutes of Feb. 14 read and approved.  Chairman of Finance 
Committee reported amount collected and read list of names contributing.  Report 
accepted. 
            The Building Committee reported their findings to the church. 
            A motion was made by Mrs. J.P. King that report of Building Committee be 
accepted and instruct them to go ahead with the building.  Mrs. Burney Pope second 
the motion.  Motion carried. 
            A motion was made by Mrs. J.P. King to ask Rev. R.G. Van Rayen to hold a 
revival meeting this summer.  Motion second by Mrs. H.R. Perkins.  Motion carried. 
            No further business, we adjourned.”31 
            “Barksdale Baptist Church met in conference Feb. 28-43. The Chairman of the 
Building Committee reported that Mr. H.L. Woods would build the Church House for 
$250.00 Motion made by Mrs. Della Connell to accept report and hire Mr. H.L Wood 
to build church house. This motion was second by Mrs. F.L. Hatley.  Motion carried. 
            Motion made by Mrs. John Shelton to begin on the House March3, 1943. This 
motion was second by H.R. Perkins.  Motion carried. 
            No further business we adjourned.”32 
            According to the Allan A. Stovall book, Nueces Headwater Country, the 
Barksdale Baptist Church erected a new native rock veneer building on the site of the 
old lumber building, replacing that structure which was put up in 1906.  The work was 
begun by H.L Wood of Barksdale, and finished by members of the local 
congregation.  The building was complete with foyer and bell tower.  In 1944, pews 
were purchased and installed in the new building, and pulpit furniture was given to the 
church by the Stovall children at the same time, and dedicated to the memory of Rev. 



and Mrs. D.S. Stovall, in an impressive ceremony directed by the church’s pastor, 
Bro. King.33 
            “On April 10, 1949, a motion was made by AA Stovall and second by Elmo 
Hobbs that a committee be appointed to start the work of hauling sand for the building 
of a new Sunday school rooms. Motion carried.”34 
            “A large crowd was present in the Barksdale Baptist Church July 15, 1951, for 
the purpose of dedicating a baptistery scene, painted and donated by Mrs. Myrtle 
Fryar of Dallas.  Rev. J.C. Dunlap, local pastor, spoke on the 23rd Psalm in his 
dedicatory sermon.”35 As in most old churches, there is no baptistery in the little 
Barksdale Baptist Church.  Most baptisms were held at the Nueces River Crossing at 
Barksdale.  The baptistery scene is now fifty-seven years old. It has been removed 
from the sanctuary and is hanging in one of the old Sunday School Classrooms. 
            “Work was begun in 1952 on the new four-room educational building of the 
Barksdale Baptist Church, under the supervision of H.E. Easley.”36 
            No church minutes were found from 1949-1964. 
            “On July 7, 1965, the Barksdale Baptist Church met in conference and among 
the items discussed was the menu for the Workers conference, to be held in August.  
The menu would consist of barbecue chicken, green salad and a “potato salad” 
committee was appointed to oversee that job.” 
            “In July, 1972, a motion was made to remove the old chimney and put tin over 
the opening and paint the outside wood works.”37 
            “In December, 1987, with Brother Bob Clontz as moderator, it was announced 
that the new front doors had been installed and varnished.  The pastor also presented a 
plan to refurnish the sanctuary. The plan included eighteen pews, sacrament table, 
pulpit and two sedalinas and wall to wall carpeting.  
            On May 5, 1988, church minutes state that the new carpet is in and draperies 
for the Baptistery have been sewn.  The old pews will be removed after church on 
Sunday, May 22.  The carpet will be laid on Monday, May 23 and the new pews will 
arrive on May 25. 
            At that same business meeting the Pastor informed the church that Dr. Jasper 
Custer had included the church in his Last Will and Testament and read that portion 
pertaining to the Barksdale First Baptist Church as follows: 
            I, Jasper Leslie Custer, domiciled in Caddo Parish, Louisiana, declare this to 
be my will.  
I revoke my precious wills and codicils. 

**EXTRACT** 
ARTICLE 3 



SPECIFIC REQUESTS 
            3.1 I bequeath the sum of Three Hundred Thousand and No/100 ($300,000.00) 
Dollars to the First Baptist Church of Barksdale, Edwards County, Texas, as a 
memorial fund in memory of my mother, Mrs. Etta Jane Custer.  I desire that the 
$300,000.00 be set in a permanent fund and only the interest or dividends be 
expended for the use of the church and Sunday school.  The principal to be 
administered by the officers or deacons of the church.  I wish that the fund be known 
as the Etta Jane Custer Memorial Fund. 
                                                                                                            /s/ Jasper Leslie 
Custer 
                                                                                                            TESTATOR 
                                                                                                            September 21, 
1987”38 
            In June, 1988, there was a recommendation in the form of a motion from the 
deacons to borrow $7,000.00 from Church Loan Dept., to build two classrooms, each 
being 16’x16’.  In March, 1989, it was reported a 70 ft. long, 3 ft. wide sidewalk was 
poured.  It extends from the back corner of the church to the new education building.  
Also, a florescent light fixture has been ordered.  Bro. Durbin will build a frame to 
hold the light and a new sign that will be painted for the front of our church.  The 
frame work on the sign will match the new doors. This will replace the bare light bulb 
now on the front of the building.  In February 1991, Bro. Homer Stephens was 
Moderator.  Kenneth Perkins informed the church that he had talked to Dr. Custer and 
his financial advisor about some components of the Etta Jane Custer Memorial Fund.  
In May 1991, The Trust Fund had been filed with the Trust Dept. of First State Bank 
of Uvalde.39 
            “In Memory of My Beloved mother, Etta Jane Custer, Born April 29, 1876, In 
Bee County, Texas near present Live Oak. 
            She married Edward D. Custer Dec. 16, 1896. 
            The family later moved to the vicinity of Barksdale in Edwards County, where 
they lived on his parents place near Pikes Peak.  Building a log cabin which served as 
their home for many years.  In 1907 a piece of land was purchased on the river below 
Barksdale and a house was built on the property.  This was done for the convenience 
of keeping the children in school.  Etta and her six children (George, Earl, Gilbert, 
Jasper, Fred and Edna) made their home in Barksdale from September to May of each 
year.  The family attended the First Baptist Church of Barksdale, where Etta took an 
active part in the life of the church.  Mrs. Custer passed away after an operation on 



March 25, 1928.  Jasper, her last living child established this memorial at the time of 
his death in Shreveport, LA.”40 
            Both Edward D. and Etta Jane Butler Custer are buried at the Barksdale 
Cemetery.41 
            On July 2, 1996, the Field property adjacent to the Church was purchased at a 
Sheriff’s tax sale, in Rocksprings, Tex., for $1,175.33.42 This would become the site 
of the new church building in 1998. 
            On July 28, 1996 the Pastor search committee presented Bro. Blake 
Westbrook to be called as pastor. The vote was unanimous.  His first Sunday as pastor 
will be Aug. 11. 
            Feb. 11, 1998, the Deacons made a motion to permit the sale of the piano and 
replace it with an electronic piano. 
            On June 14, 1998, a called business meeting was conducted following Sunday 
morning worship services.  Pastor Blake Westbrook served as moderator.  It was 
voted on that morning to “Build a church building.”42 
            Before the vote was taken, church members expressed concern about the 
existing rock church building.  The members were assured that the little church would 
remain where it stands.  On Dec. 6, 1998, ground was broken for construction of a 
new church building.  Bro. Blake Westbrook left the Barksdale Baptist Church after 
the new church building was completed.  Greg Johnson was called to the pastorate in 
2001. 

  
  

Significance 
            Barksdale Baptist Church was the first and only Baptist Church in the 
community, with a congregation of nineteen members in 1883.  The church members 
built the rock church house during 1943-1944, on the exact site of the original lumber 
church building, which was constructed in 1906.  Through the years, the little rock 
church house has stood steadfast on Church Street in the community of Barksdale, 
Edwards Co., Texas.  The pioneer families that settled in this area are the solid 
foundation of this (one room) rock church.  Their history continues to live through 
their descendants, through the births, marriages and funerals of family and friends.  
The fellowship and love that was established so many years ago is still remembered 
and felt in this one room rock House of God. 
            All through the years the church supported missions and missionaries, 
orphanages and each other.  There were Vacation Bible Schools that lasted for two 
weeks, with children form all over the canyon attending.  The Barksdale Baptist 



Church supported the Lottie Moon Christmas offering, the Annie Armstrong offering 
at Easter and the Mary Hall Davis offering in September. The church also supported a 
local young lady who was a missionary in China.  The pastor made home visits with 
members and people of the community.  There was a large outreach of Christian love 
and support form this small church and Christian history is still felt and remembered 
through the community, the canyon and the region. 
            One family that stands out in the history of Barksdale and the Barksdale 
Baptist Church is the Edward D. Custer family.  Ed moved to the Canyon area in 1892 
with his parents Mr. and Mrs. R.J. Custer.  They came from Bee County and were 
ranch people.43 
            Etta Jane Butler Custer was born April 29, 1876 in Bee County Texas and died 
March 25, 1928.  She and her husband, Ed, are both buried in the Barksdale 
Cemetery. 
            On June 10, 1991, Dr. Jasper L. Custer, the last surviving child of Etta Jane 
Custer, established the “Etta Jane Custer Memorial Fund” in memory of his Mother, 
Etta Jane Custer.  This fund, for $300,000.00 is for the benefit of the First Baptist 
Church of Barksdale, Texas. 
            In 1998, the little rock Barksdale Baptist Church was bursting at the seams and 
the church members voted to build a larger church on adjoin property.  Before the 
vote the members asked that the little rock church remains standing where it has been 
since 1943.  The church members were assured by the pastor and the deacons that no 
harm would ever come to the little rock church.  Now, we seek its designation as a 
Registered Texas Historical Landmark so that it remains an integral part of future 
generations to come. 
  
(See References) 
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